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	Property Address:  1109 6th Avenue North
                                    

Historic Address (if applicable):       
City/Town:  Great Falls
	Site Number:  24CA1930
(An historic district number may also apply.)

County:  Cascade


	Historic Name:  Motana Deaconess Hospital
Original Owner(s):       
Current Ownership      FORMCHECKBOX 
 Private     FORMCHECKBOX 
 Public

Current Property Name:  Cambridge Court Assisted Living (former)
Owner(s):  Madison Apartments LLC
Owner Address:  3313 5th St. NE
                         Great Falls, MT 59404
Phone:                406.771.2206
	Legal Location

PM:  Montana    Township:  20N     Range:  3E
NW ¼    SE ¼    SE ¼  of Section:  1
Lot(s):  8-14 

Block(s):  139
Addition:  GF First      Year of Addition:  1888 

USGS Quad Name:  Northwest Great Falls, MT         Year:  2020

	Historic Use:  Hospital
Current Use:  Assisted living, disused
Construction Date:    1929     FORMCHECKBOX 
 Estimated       FORMCHECKBOX 
 Actual

 FORMCHECKBOX 
 Original Location       FORMCHECKBOX 
 Moved   Date Moved:       
	UTM Reference           
 FORMCHECKBOX 
 NAD 27  or   FORMCHECKBOX 
 NAD 83(preferred)      
Zone:  12T    Easting:  478337    Northing:  5262113

	National Register of Historic Places

NRHP Listing Date:  N/A
Historic District:       
NRHP  Eligible:   FORMCHECKBOX 
 Yes    FORMCHECKBOX 
 No
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Address:  PO Box 5021, Great Falls, MT 59403
Daytime Phone:  406.455.8550

	MT SHPO USE ONLY

Eligible for NRHP:  □ yes    □ no                  

Criteria:  □ A    □ B    □ C    □ D

Date:                                 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION

Architectural Style:   FORMDROPDOWN 
      If Other, specify:       
Property Type:   FORMDROPDOWN 
     Specific Property Type:  Hospital
Architect:  McIver & Cohagen (1929), Knight & Van Teylingen (1965)         Architectural Firm/City/State:  Great Falls
Builder/Contractor:                 Company/City/State:       
Source of Information:  Blueprints
The Deaconess Hospital occupies the southern half of a city block between 11th and 12th Streets N along 6th Ave. North. The first floor exterior is all of smooth cut sandstone or cast stone, and the upper five are of running-bond red brick masonry. The structure is built with a reinforced concrete frame, and the roof is flat. The most prominent portion of the building forms an L-shaped arrangement of wings. The primary entrance is situated centrally on the 400 ft. by 175 ft. site. 
A boulevard runs the length of the building and parking lot, spacing the developments from the street with a row of trees and shrubs flanking the sidewalk. The western portion of the lot is covered with an 80 ft. by 140 ft. asphalt parking lot. A metal carport runs the western edge of the lot. Another parking lot 150 ft by 80 ft occupies the northeast corner of the site.
The main entrance sits in the center of the block near 6th Ave North, framed by a stone portico featuring granite columns and stone benches flanking the doors. The entry contains three double doors with transoms of the same width. The portico rises to the height of the second floor and extends out toward the street.   

The southern façade contains seven bays of two or three windows each. Each bay is defined by a small set-back or step forward in the façade wall, created a stepped outline. The windows are double one-over-one metal casement windows with stone sills, with the exception of the central bay over the main entrance, which contains a column of double casement windows flanked by a single one over one casement window on each side. This bay includes stone sills, lintels, and mullions, and the set of windows directly over the main entrance includes a decorative stone and masonry arch. The rows of windows are interspaced with geometric stone insets into the brick masonry, alternating between circles and bars. A terracotta cornice runs the length of the southern façade, and the bay over the main entrance is elaborated with terracotta scrollwork and an inscribed frieze.
Secondary elevations to the east and north follow a simplified version of the pattern of the primary façade to the south. The western façade shows evidence of the long history of construction and demolition over the course of the hospital’s life. The western elevation of the main wing shows the scars of the removal of the upper floors of the 1908 wing as long vertical ribs patched in with concrete. A single story element encompasses the first floor of the 1908 portion, though the western elevation has been truncated and covered with plain concrete. The one-story 1917 laundry and boiler facility make up the northwest corner of the structure, and remains relatively intact. This portion of the facility is of red brick with a poured concrete basement and features a simple brick cornice. Two brick exhaust stacks rise from the boiler room nearly to the full height of the adjacent six-floor wing. 
The Art Deco style of the dominant 1929 portion is expressed in the Deaconess’ stylized geometric decorative elements, stepped massing, vertical emphasis, use of smooth masonry, and monumental feeling from street level. This styling is not as evident in the eastern wing of the building, which was built to match the 1908 portion that originally formed a western wing. While the interior has been extensively renovated, some decorative plaster remains in the entry lobby.  
HISTORY OF PROPERTY

The Montana Deaconess Hospital was first conceived at the Episcopal Methodist conference in Great Falls in 1895. A board of trustees was named in 1896 in Sand Coulee, and among those trustees was Rev. William Wesley Van Orsdel, better known as “Brother Van,” a well-loved circuit preacher and prolific builder of churches, schools, and hospitals. With the help of a charismatic leader, the hospital trustees raised $10,000 for construction and secured a donation of a large city lot from L.H. Hamilton, a successful stockman. Brother Van petitioned the Methodist Deaconesses, an organization of professionally-trained laity dedicated to full-time service as nurses, teachers, and social workers, to staff and organize the hospital. The hospital, originally called the Protestant Hospital (in contrast with the Catholic Columbus Hospital established a few years earlier), opened in 1898 with 30 beds. 
The organization suffered some initial difficulty, and closed in 1890 due to “a combination of circumstances,” as Augusta Ariss would later phrase it. It was Ariss who would be later credited with rescuing the hospital and building it into an enduring Great Falls institution. When the Protestant Hospital closed, Brother Van consulted with national Deaconess leadership and it was decided to “loan” Ariss to Great Falls for a period of two years. Those two years turned into a distinguished 30-year career as the hospital Superintendent. Among her most impactful achievements was the institution of a professional school for nurses, who eventually replaced the less formally-trained deaconesses in medical roles. 
Under Ariss’ guidance, the hospital reopened in 1892 and went from failing to overflowing. An addition was constructed in 1908. In 1910, the Protestant Hospital was renamed to the Montana Deaconess Hospital. A West Wing was built in 1917, and later the original building was demolished and the Spencer Memorial Wing (the main part of the current structure) was built in 1929. In 1965 the building was remodeled to become an elder care facility, which entailed the demolition of the 1917 West Wing and most of the 1908 addition. Attached Sanborn Map excerpts show the progression of addition and demolition. 
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Area of Significance:             Period of Significance:       
STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Deaconess Hospital has statewide historic significance and is eligible for listing to the National Register of Historic Places under criteria A, B, and C.

The Deaconess was the location for the founding of Montana’s first fully accredited nursing school, which grew out of the tradition of professional nursing developed by the Deaconess Movement. This association with the broader pattern of the development of the medical field in the Mountain West constitutes significance under Criterion A.

Rev. William Wesley Van Orsdel, prolific speaker and organizer who ministered to Native Americans and early Montana settlers alike and was instrumental in the founding of schools, hospitals, and orphanages across the state, was deeply involved in the organization of the Deaconess Hospital and was the first president of the board of directors. Augusta Ariss, the Methodist Deaconess who took on the role of Superintendent of the hospital for 33 years, was not only a skilled administrator and distinguished leader, she helped to shape the medical field in Montana with her vision of nursing as a skilled profession. She established a nurses’ training program at the Deaconess that provided skilled nurses to hospitals throughout the state, and later helped establish the Montana State Board of Nursing to further elevate the profession. Association with these significant figures in state history constitutes significance under Criterion B.

The six-story Spencer Memorial Wing of the Deaconess Hospital displays features characteristic of the Art Deco architectural movement popular in the US during the 1920s, and architectural firm McIver & Cohagan was prolific and deeply influential in public architecture in Montana in the early to mid 20th century. As an embodiment of the characteristics of Art Deco public architecture and as an example of the work of regionally prominent architects, the Deaconess is historically significant under Criterion C. 
INTEGRITY (location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, association)

The Deaconess Hospital has undergone a series of physical changes over the years, but has maintained its role as a medical facility until quite recently. The location and setting remain substantially unchanged.
The portion of the complex constructed in 1929 is almost entirely intact externally and the interior retains some original decorative features, though most of the interior was extensively renovated in 1965 when the hospital was converted into a skilled nursing facility. A laundry facility and boiler room remain from the 1917 addition intact, though everything else from that period of construction has been demolished. The 1908 addition has been reduced to a portion of the first floor, out of a building that was originally 4 stories. 

The 1929 Spencer Memorial Wing retains integrity of location, materials, workmanship, and much of its integrity of design, though the destruction of the 1908 addition removes the symmetry of the intended layout. The art-deco styling and monumental nature of the building preserve some of the feeling intended during the 1929 period of construction, though the loss of symmetry and current disuse of the structure diminish that somewhat. Association with the medical development of Great Falls and Montana and with the Deaconess movement, as well as association with historical figures Rev. Van Orsdel and Augusta Ariss, are clearly documented, though community knowledge of these associations is limited outside of academic circles. 

Though the Deaconess Hospital’s various construction projects have resulted in significant changes since its initial construction in 1898, this is reflective of the changing needs of the community from 1898 through the present, and is in itself documentary of the growth patterns and changing values of the community during this time.
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	Feature #  
Facing:  
	Description:  1900 Sanborn
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	Feature #  
Facing:  
	Description:  1929 Sanborn (map drawn before new wing completed)
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	Feature #  
Facing:  
	Description:  1957 Sanborn
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	Description: Nearmap Aerial 2018 
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